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I. STATEMENT

1. This is a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Respondent, Brentwood Limousine & Coach International, Inc. (Brentwood).

2. In Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 79351, Staff alleges that Brentwood has violated Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6-6102(a)(1), 391.45(a) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6.  Staff further alleges that the violation occurred on May 20, 2006 when Brentwood used a driver in Denver, Colorado that was not medically examined and certified.  The subject CPAN seeks imposition of a civil penalty in the amount of $2,500.00 for this alleged violation.  

3. By Decision No. R06-1243, the undersigned ALJ found that Staff sustained its burden of proving that the allegations contained in Count 1 of CPAN No. 79351 occurred on May 22, 2006, by a preponderance of the evidence.  However, it was also found that the CPAN must be dismissed because CPAN No. 79351 failed to comply with the mandatory statutory procedure of § 40-7-116, C.R.S. as to the date of the violation.
4. By Decision No. C06-1406, the Commission granted Staff’s Exceptions to Decision No. R06-1243, in part, and remanded the docket to the ALJ to take additional evidence on the facts surrounding date inconsistencies in the record.

5. By Decision No. R06-1441-I, a hearing to address the remand issues was scheduled for January 22, 2007, in Denver, Colorado.  

6. The undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called the matter for hearing at the assigned time and place.  Staff appeared through Counsel and Brentwood appeared pro se through Ray and Beth Hamilton.  During the course of the hearing testimony was received from Mr. Tony Munoz, Criminal Investigator for the Commission; and Mr. and Ms. Hamilton for Brentwood.  Exhibits 1 through 4 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence during the original hearing.  Exhibit 5 was identified, offered, and admitted into evidence during the hearing on remand.  Administrative notice was also taken of Exhibits 6, 7, and 8.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the ALJ took the matter under advisement.

7. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. findings of fact

8. Brentwood operates a luxury limousine service.  On or about May 20, 2006, Mr. Munoz conducted an investigation of luxury limousines for compliance with the Commission’s Safety Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6100 et seq. at Denver area proms.  

9. The prom for the Cherry Creek High School was held at the El Jebel Temple in Denver, on Saturday, May 20, 2006.  Mr. Munoz contacted Brentwood’s luxury limousine at the El Jebel Temple.  The driver of the luxury limousine, Richard Van Schoyock, told Mr. Munoz that he was driving the luxury limousine for Brentwood. Mr. Munoz stated that he requested the driver to produce a Department of Transportation card and proof of a medical exam required by Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) incorporated by reference in the Commission’s Safety Rules.  The driver could not produce the requested information.

10. On the following Monday, Mr. Munoz contacted Brentwood and spoke to Mr. Ray Hamilton.  He explained that the Brentwood driver failed to provide a medical examination and certification documentation, and requested that it be forwarded by Brentwood.  Mr. Munoz identified Mr. Van Schoyock and Mr. Hamilton responded that he would provide documentation.  The following day, Mr. Munoz again contact Mr. Van Schoyock, requesting documentation.  Mr. Van Schoyock admitted that he did not have any documentation.  Whereupon, Mr. Munoz issued CPAN No. 79351.  Hearing Exhibit 1.

11. Rule 6102, 4 CCR 723-6 incorporates 49 C.F.R. 391.45 by reference and requires that any person who has not been medically examined and certified as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle must be medically examined and certified in accordance with 49 C.F.R. 391.43 as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle.

12. Section 40-7-113, C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to impose civil penalties upon “any person who violates any provision of article 10, 10.5, 11, 13, 14, or 16 of this title or any rule promulgated by the commission pursuant to such articles, which provision or rule is applicable to such person.”  Specifically, § 40-7-113(g), C.R.S., provides that “[a]ny person who violates any safety rule promulgated by the commission shall be subject to the civil penalties authorized pursuant to 49 CFR 386, subpart G, as such subpart existed on October 1, 2001.”

13. Section 40-1-102 of the Colorado Revised Statutes also provides:  “[a]s used in articles 1 to 7 of this title, unless the context otherwise requires: ….(5) "Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company, association, joint stock association, and other legal entity.
14. Pursuant to 49 CFR 386, subpart G, as such subpart existed on October 1, 2001, a person or entity who violates parts 385 or 390-399 of this subchapter, except a recordkeeping requirement, is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each violation. 49 CFR 386, Appendix B (a)(3).  A driver who violates parts 385 and 390-399 of this subchapter, except a recordkeeping violation, is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $2,500. 49 CFR 386, Appendix B (a)(4).

15. Pursuant to Rule 6105(b), 4 CCR 723-6, a person who violates 391.45(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $2,500.00 for each violation.

16. Rule 1004(r) defines a person to be Commission staff or any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company, association, cooperative association, joint stock association, joint venture, governmental entity, or other legal entity.
17. Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence. 

18. Staff contends that Brentwood was specifically aware of the requirement to use medically examined and certified drivers.  Mr. Ted Barrett, a Senior Compliance Investigator with the Commission, conducted a Safety and Compliance Review of Brentwood on July 29, 2005.  

19. In the Final Report, issued August 12, 2005, 40 percent (2 out of 5) of the driver qualification files examined were found not to have contained current medical examiner’s certificates.  The violation was even cited as a Critical violation because of heightened concern for matters directly affecting the public safety.  Finally, the Requirements of the Final Report mandate that Brentwood ensure all drivers are fully and properly qualified before operating in commerce and that a complete file be maintained for each driver, documenting the qualification process.  Brentwood acknowledged receipt of the final report.  See Hearing Exhibit 2.

20. Aside from the specific awareness argued by Staff, Brentwood is obligated to be familiar with, and comply with, the Commission’s safety rules.  § 40-16-105, C.R.S.  
21. Based upon the foregoing, Staff recommends that the maximum civil penalty be imposed for Count 1.

22. Ms. Hamilton insists that Mr. Van Schoyock was properly certified at times relevant to CPAN No. 79351.  She says that the driver’s qualifications were reviewed at the time he was hired in Spring 2005.  After leaving Brentwood’s employment, Mr. Van Schoyock returned to Brentwood as a driver approximately one week before the encounter on May 20, 2006, that led to issuance of the CPAN.  She is confident that Mr. Van Schoyock’s certification was current because it is Brentwood’s practice to track DOT certification with Denver International Airport badges that also are valid for two years.

23. In the days surrounding May 22, 2006, Ms. Hamilton states that Mr. Van Schoyock’s driver file was with their accountant, Earl W. McCray, in Robert, Louisiana.  A letter from Mr. McCray was admitted as Hearing Exhibit 4.  Mr. McCray acknowledges that the Hamilton’s send a lot of paperwork to him, including driver information.  He uses the information in connection with information returns.  His practice is to copy the files and return the originals to Brentwood.  Although not addressed by Mr. McCray, Ms. Hamilton stated that he also serves as a “second check” on the driver files.

24. Mr. McCray lost some papers that should have been returned to Brentwood during Hurricane Katrina.  He believes it is very likely that Brentwood’s missing files were lost due to the rain and flooding.

25. Brentwood does not dispute facts alleged to have occurred on May 20, 2006; rather, it is contended that required medical examination and certification documentation was destroyed by Hurricane Katrina or that the CPAN was not in a proper form.

26. The evidence of record establishes that Brentwood violated 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a)(1), 49 CFR 391.45(a), by permitting its driver, who was not medically examined and certified, to provide luxury limousine service on May 20, 2006.  

27. The Commission only has penalty assessment authority to the extent provided by statute and the Commission must follow the provisions of those statutes when it imposes such penalties against transportation carriers.  Compliance with the procedures specified in § 40-7-116, C.R.S., to enforce a civil penalty assessment, is not so much a matter of due process.  Section 40-16-107, C.R.S., provides that, “motor vehicle carriers exempt from regulation as public utilities shall be subject to civil penalties as provided in sections 40-7-112 to 40-7-116” (emphasis added).  

28. Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., mandates a number of procedures for the imposition of civil penalties by the Commission:  After specifying that the listed officials are the ones authorized to issue civil penalty assessments for violations of law, § 116 states that, “When a person is cited for such violation, the person operating the motor vehicle involved shall be given notice of such violation in the form of a civil penalty assessment notice” (emphasis added).  Section 116 further directs that the civil penalty assessment notice “shall be tendered by the enforcement official;” and that it “shall contain” the “name and address of the person cited for the violation; a citation to the specific statute or rule alleged to have been violated; a brief description of the alleged violation; the date and approximate location of the alleged violation; the maximum penalty amounts prescribed for the violation; the date of the notice; a place for such person to execute a signed acknowledgment of receipt of the civil penalty assessment notice; a place for such person to execute a signed acknowledgment of liability for the violation; and such other information as may be required by law to constitute notice of a complaint to appear for hearing if the prescribed penalty is not paid within ten days.” § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

29. The CPAN served upon the Respondent, Exhibit 1, alleges that a violation occurred on May 20, 2006.  At the hearing on remand, Staff has clarified that previous testimony regarding the date of the alleged violation should have referenced Saturday, May 20, 2006, rather than the prior incorrect reference to Saturday, May 22, 2006.  Further, it was clarified that previous testimony regarding the Monday following the alleged violation was should have referenced Monday, May 22, 2006, rather than the prior incorrect reference to Monday May 24, 2006.  Mr. Munoz explained that he simply reviewed the wrong calendar in preparing for hearing and erroneously included references to such incorrect calendar.

30. Regarding service of the CPAN, §40-1-102, C.R.S. provides:  “[a]s used in articles 1 to 7 of this title, unless the context otherwise requires: ….(5) "Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company, association, joint stock association, and other legal entity.  Staff properly served the CPAN upon Brentwood by Certified Mail in accordance with § 40-7-116 (1).  See Hearing Exhibit 2.

31. Therefore, the ALJ finds that Staff has met its burden to demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, a violation of Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a)(1) by using a driver not medically examined and certified as required by 49 CFR 391.45(a).  
32. Commission rules, authorize the Commission to assess civil penalties for the involved violations “up to” $2,500.00 for each violation encompassed by CPAN No. 79351.  Rule 6105(b), 4 CCR 723-6.  Therefore, it has the ability to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessments.  These include, among others, deterring future violations, motivating a carrier to come into compliance with the law, and punishing a carrier for prior, illegal behavior.

33. Following service of the CPAN, the driver was medically certified and documentation thereof was provided to the Commission.  
34. On the other hand, the Commission must rely upon carriers to comply with applicable regulations, including in this instance, the safety rules.  The ALJ cannot condone another “free strike” when it is clear that Respondent was fully aware of its obligations and offers no reasonable mitigation for non-compliance.  Less than one year prior to the incident giving rise to the instant CPAN, Brentwood was found to have used drivers not qualified pursuant to 49 CFR §391.11 in a Safety and Compliance Review.  The failure to meet these important obligations cannot be ignored and Staff recommends assessment of substantial penalties in this case. 

35. Under the circumstances presented in this docket, assessment of the full penalty requested by Staff is justified. A significant assessment will deter future violations and appropriately punish prior, illegal behavior.  For these reasons, the penalty to be assessed in this matter will be $2,500.00 for each count of the CPAN.

III. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Brentwood Limousine & Coach International, Inc. (Brentwood) is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $2,500.00 in connection with Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 79351 and shall pay the total assessed penalty of $2,500.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________

Administrative Law Judge
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